IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,
 Plaintiff,

Ve

COMPLAINT

§

§

§

§

g
STANFORD INTERNATIONAL BANK, LTD., = §
STANFORD GROUP COMPANY, §
STANFORD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LLC, §
* R. ALLEN STANFORD, JAMES M. DAVIS, and §
LAURA PENDERGEST-HOLT §
§

§

Defendants..

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges:

1.  The Commission seeks emergency relief'to halt a massive, ongoing fraud
orchestrated by R. Allen Stanford and James M. Davis and executed through companies they
control, including Stanford International Bank, Ltd. (“SIB”) and its affiliated Houston-based
inVesttﬁf:nt advisers, Stanford Group Company (“SGC) and Stanford Capital Manaémﬁmt '

(“SCMP). Laura Pendergest-Holt, the chief investment officer of & Stanford affliate, was

L | ——
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2. Through this fraudulent scheme, SIB, acting through a netwoik of SGC finianicia
&dv:sm's, has sold approximately $8 bllhon of self-styled “certificates of depamts” by pmm:smg

lngh rétum rates that exceed those aVallabIethrough true certificates of deposits oﬁ’ered by
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3. SIB claims that its unique ﬁmant strategy has allowed it to achieve double-
digit returns on its investments over the past 15 years, allowing it offer high yic;,lds to CD |
purchasers. Indeed, SIB claims that its “diversified portfolio of investments” lost only 1.3% in
2008, a time during which the S&P 500 lost 39% and the Dow Jones STOXX Europe 500 Fund
lost 41%. |

4.  Perhaps even more strange, SIB report; identical returns in 1995 and 1 996 of
exactly 15.71%. As Pendergest-Holt — SIB investment committee member and the chief
investment officer of smnfo;d Group Financial (a Stanford affiliate) — admits, it is sittiply

“improbable” that SIB could have managed a “global diversified” portfolio of investments in a

 way that returned identical results in consecutive years. A performance reporting consultant

hired by SGC, when asked about these “improbable” returns, responded simply that it is
“impossible” to achieve identical results on a diversified investment portfolio in consecutive
" years. Yet, SIB continues to proriote its CDs using these improbable retus.

5.  These :hnpmba_blé-rewlts are made even more suspicious by the fact that, contrary
to assurances provided to investots, at most only two peoplé — Stanford and Davis — know the
‘details concerning the bulk of SIB’s iﬁvcstment portfolio. And SIB'__g’ow_'to-great' lengthsto -
prevent any true independent examination ofthpseporttbhos For example, its long-standing
auditor is reportedly retained based on a “relationship of trust” between the head of the anditing

6.  Importantly, contrary to recent public statements by. SIB, Stanford and Davis (and
through them SGC) have wholly-failed to cooperate with the Commission’s efforts to account
for the $8 biltion of investor funds purportedly held by SIB. In short, approximately 90% of
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SIB’s claimed invcsuﬁeﬁt portfolio resides in a “black box” shielded from any independent
oversight. |
, 7. In fact, far from “cooperating” with the Commission’s enforcement investigation
(which Stanford has reportedly tried to characttmze as only involving rout:ne exa:mnatlons),
SGC appears to have used press reports speculating about the Commission’s mvestlgahon as
way to further m:slead investors, falsely telling at least one customer during the week of
February 9, 2009, that his multi-million dollar STB CD could not be redeemed because “the SEC
had frozen the account for two months.” At least o_n_é other customer who recently inquired
abowt redecning a amiti-million dollar CD claiing fhat bis was informed that, contrary to
reprcsentatmns made at the time of purchase that the CD could be redeemed early upon payment
| ~of apenalty, R. Allen Stanford had ordered a two~monﬁ1 moratorium on CD redempuons

8. ‘This secrecy and recent misrepresentations are made even more suspicious by
extenmve and fundamental misrepmeﬁt’ations SIB and its advisors have made to CD pum‘hascts
in order to lull them into thinking then- investment is safe. SIB and its advisers have
misrepresented to CD purchasers that their deposits are safe because the bank: (i) re-invests client

ly in “liquid” financial instruments (the “portfoho”), (i) monitors the portfolio ﬂnuugh

a e o 20-plhs snalyots, and. (i) i slbject to yearky mudts by Act

'lemmvesmmbyclmmmgﬂlebaukhasm“chreetqrmdsrect”expesunetoMaﬂotP-s

: snhcnne
ary to these representations, SIB’s investment

-9 "ﬂmeasmamfalse. Cor

portfolio was not invested in liquid financial instruments or allocated in the mamer described in it

promotional material and public reports. Instead, .a:substanti_a‘l:poxﬁon of the bank’s portfolio was
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placed in illiquid investments, such as rel estate and private equity. Further, the vast majority
SIB’s multi-billion dollar invesunm:f portfolio was not monitored Bf-a team of analysts, but rather -
" by two people — Allen Stanford and James Davis. And contrary to SIB’s rqpra;entaﬁoﬁs, the.
Antiguan regulator responsible for oversight of the bank’s portfolio, the Financial Services
Regulatory Commission, does not audit SIB’s portfolio or verify the assets SIB claims in its |
financial statements. Perhaps most alarming is that SIB has exposwe to losses from the Madoff
fraud scheme despite the bank’s public assurancés to the contrary. | |

10.  SGC has failed to disclose material facts to its advisory clients. Alarmingly, recent
weeks have seen an increasing amount of liquidation activity by SIB and attempts to wire money
out of its investment portfolio. The Commission has received informafion indicating that in just
the last two weeks, SIB has sought to remove over $178 million from its accounts. And, amajor
clearing firm — after unsuccessfully attempting to find information about SIB’-S;- financial
condition and because it could not obtain adequate transparency into SIB’s financials- has
recently informed SGC that it would no longer process wires from SGC accounts at the clearing
firm to SIB for the purchase of SIB issued CDs, even if they were accompanied by customer
 Tetters of authorization. | | |

11.  Stanford’s fraudulent conductis not limited to the saleof CDs. Since 2005, SGC
advisers have soidmomﬁ!m $1 billion of a propnewynmtuai fiurid wrap program, called Stanford
Allocation Sirategy (‘SAS™), by usmgmatmauy filoe und islesdling istoival pocfommanes dath,
~ The false data has helped SGf;l grow the SAS program ft:om less than $10 million in arolmd2004 to
over $1.2 billion, generating fees for SGC (and ultimately Stanford) in excess of $25 million. And
the fraudulent SAS performance was used to ecruit registered financial advisers with sigifican
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books of business, who were then heavily incentivized to re-allocate their clients’ assets to SIB’s
12. . Moreover, SIB and Stanford Group Company have violated Section 7(d) of the

Investment Company Act of 1940 by faﬂing‘toregista‘-mdtl:nthe Commission in order to sell SIB’s

CDs. Had they complied with this registration requirement, the Commission would have been able
to examine each of those entities concerning SIB’s CD investment portfolio.

13. By engaging in the conduct described in this Complaint, defendants Stanford,
: Davis, Pendergest-Holt, SIB, SGC, and Stanford Capital, directly or indirectly, singly or in
concert, have engaged, and unless enjoined and restrained, will again engage in transactions acts, '
practices, and courses of business that constitute violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢(a), 77¢(c) and 77q(a)], and Section 10(b) of the

' Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)], and Exchange Act Rule
10b-5 [17 C.E.R. § 240.10b-5] o, in the alternative, have aided and abetted such violations. In
addition, through their conduct described herein, Stanford, SGC, and Stanford Capital have

| “violated Section 206(1) and (2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Adviser’s Act”) [15
U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) and 80b-6(2)] and Davis and Pendergest-Holt have aided and abetted such
violstions, Finally, through their actions, SIB and SGC have violated Section 7(d) of the

y Act of 1940 (“ICA”) [15 US.C. § 80a-7(@)].

Tnvestment Compas
14.  The Commission, in the interest of protecting the public from any further

ipulous and illegal activity, brings this action against the defendants, seeking temporary,

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, disgorgement of all illicit profits and benefits
defendants havereceived plus accrued prejudgment interest and a civil monetary penalty. The

Commission also secks an asset freeze, an accounting and other ineidental relief, as.well as the
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appointment of a re;:eiver to take possession and control of defendants’ assets for tﬁe protection
of defendants’ victims. |
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
15.  The investments offered and sold by the defendants are “securities” under Section
2(1) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77b], Section 3(a)t10) of the Exchange Act [1.5 USC. §
78¢]}, Section 2(36) of the Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. § 80a-2(36)], and Se.ction
~ 202(18) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-2(18)]. ' |
16 Plaintiff Commission brings this action under the authonty conferred upon it by
Section 20(b) of the Securities Act [15 IiS.C. ‘§ 77t(b)}, Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15
US.C. § 78u(d)], Section 41(d) of the Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. § 80a-41(d)], and
Sechon 209(d) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(d)] to temporarily, preliminarily, and
permanently enjoin Defendants from fiture violations of the federal securities laws.
17.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action, and venue is proper, under Section
- 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)], Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
7$aa], Section 43 of the Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. § 80a-43], and Section 214 of the
Advisers Act [15 USC § 80b-14]. "
18, Defendants have,-directly or indirectly, made use of the means.or instruments of

fation and: connnumcahon, and the means or instrumenitalities of interstate commerce, or

| _'_ufﬂaemaﬂa me@nnect:onthhthcu'ansacnons,acts,pracucm and courses of business alleged

‘Terein, Certam of the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business occurred in the

‘Northern District of Texas.
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DEFENDANTS .

19.  Stanford International Bank, Ltd. purports to be private international bank

. domiciled in St. John’s, Antigua, West Indies. SIB claims to serve 30,000 clients in 131

countries and holds $7.2 billion in assets under management. SIB’s Annual Report for 2007
states that SIB has 50,000 client.é. SIB’s multi-billion portfolio of investments is pu?portedly
monitored by the SFG’s ciﬁef financial officer in Memphis, Tennessee. Unlike a commercial
bank, SIB does niot loan money. SIB sells the CD to U.S. investors through SGC, its affiliated -
investment adviser. ' |

20.  Stanford Group Company, a I-Iouston-base& corporation, is registered with the
‘Commission as a broker-dealer and investment adviser. It has 29 offices located throughout the
U.S. SGC’s principal -businms consists of sales of SIB-issued securities, marketed as
é&ﬁﬁcates of deposit. SGC is a wholly owned subsidiary ofStaﬁfor‘d Group Holdings, Inc.,
which in turn is owned by R. Allen Stanford (“Stanford”). | |

21.  Stanford Capital Management, a registered investment adviser, took over the
management of the SAS program (f‘orme‘ﬂy Mutual Fund Partners) from SGC in early 2007.
Stanford Group -Cbm‘pany markets the SAS program through SCM. |

22, R. Allen Stanford, a U.S. citizen, is the Chairman of the Board and sole
shareholder of SIB and the sole director of SGC’s parent company. Stanford refised to appear
and give testamony in the investigation. |

23.  James M. Davis, a U.S. citizen and resident of Baldwin, Miésissippi and who
offices in Memphis, Tennessee and quelq; Mississippi, is a director and chief financial ofﬁcer

of SEG and SIB. Davis refused to appear and give testimony in this investigation.

SEC v. Stanford International Bank; Ltd., et al. B . ’
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24.  Laura Pendergest-Holt, is the Chief Investment Officer of SIB and its affiliate
Stanford Financial Group. She wpawses a group of analysts in Memphis, Tupelo, and St. Croix
who “oversee” performance of SIB’s Tier II assets. |

- STATEMENT OF FACTS AND ALLEGATIONS
RELEVANT TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION

A. The Stanford International Bank

25.  Allen Stanford has created a complex web of affiliated companies that exist and
operate under the brand Stanford Financial Group (“SFG”). SFG is described as a privately-held
group of companies that has in excess of $50 billion “under advisement.” o

' 26. SIB, one of SFG’s affiliates, is a private, offshore bank that purports to have an
independent Board of Directors, an. Invesiment Committee, a Chief Investment Officer anda
team of research analysts. While SIB may 'be-domiciled in Antigua, a small group of SFG
emplo:'vees who maintain offices in Memphis, Tennessee, and Tupelo, Mississippi, purportedly
monitor the assets. | _

27.  Asof November 28, 2008, SIB reported $8.5 billion in total assets. SIB’s primary
product is the CD. SIB aggregates customer deposits, and then re-invests those funds in a
“globally diversified poxifali‘o” of assets. SIB claims its investment portfolio is approximately
$8.4 billion. SIB sold tmore than' $1 billion in CDs per year between 2005 and 2007, including
salesto USS. mvmtors The bank’s deposits increased from $3.8 billion in 2005, to $5 billionin
2006, and $6.7 billionin 2007. SIB had approximately $3.8 billion in CD sales to 35,000

customers in 2005. By the end of 2007, SIB sold $6.7 billion of CDs to 50,000 customers.
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28.  For almost fifteen years, SIB represented that it has experienced consistently hlgh

returns on its investment ofdeposnts (rangmg from 11 5% in 2005 to 16.5% in 1993):

STANFORD INTERNATIONAL BANK
Return Vs. lnterest Pald To Depositors

15.7%

(RS EET

e R e e e e
29.  In fact, since 1994, SIB has never failed to hit targeted mmunmt returns in
excess of 10%. And, SIB claims that its “diversified portfolio of mvmtm@nts” jlosf only $110
million or 1.3% in 2008. During the same time period, the s&rseo lost 39% and the Dow
Jones STOXX Europe 500 Fund lost 41%. |

30.  As performance reporting consultant hired by SGC testified in the Commission’s
investigation, STB’s historical returns are improbable, if not impossible. In 1995 and 1996, SIB
reported identical returns of 15.71%, a remarkable achievement considering the bank’s
- “diversified investment portfolio.” According to defendant Pendergest-Holt — the chief

investment officer ofsm-afmme SFG~itis “mprobable” tiat SIB covld have mansged -

“global diversified” pottfolio of investments so that it returned identical results in consecutive
years. SGC’s pemfonnanee repomng -consultant was more emphatic; saym,g that iti 33
“impossible” to achieve identical results on a diversified. investment portfoho..m mnSecutiive

‘years. SIB continues to promote its CDs using these improbable, if not impos ’ble, returns.
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31" SIB’s consistently high refurns of investment have enabled the bank to pay a
consistently and significantly higher rate on its CD than conventional banks. For example, SIB
offered 7.45% as of 31me 1, 2005, and 7.878% as of March 20, 2006, for a fixed rate CDbased
on an investment of$160 000. OnNove'mb& 28, 2008, SIB-quoted 5.375% ona 3 year CD,
while comparable U.S. Banks’ CDs paid under 3.2%. And recently, SIB quoted rates of over
10% on five year CDs.

'32.  SIB’s extraordinary returns have enabled the bank to pay disproportionately large
commissions to SGC for the sale of SIB CDs. In 2007, SIB paid to SGC and affiliates $291.7
million in management fees and commissions from CD sales, up from $211 million in 2006 and
$161 millionin 2005.© |

33.  SIBmarkets CDs to mvestors in the United States exclusively through SGC
adwsers pursuant to a claimed Regulation D offering, filing a Forin D with the SEC. Regulation
D permits under certain circumstances the sale of unregistered secutities (the CDs) to accredited
investors in the United States. SGC receives 3% based on the aggregate sales of CDs by SGC
advisers. Financial advisers also re;:eive: a 1% commission up_on'tﬁe sale of the CDs, and are
eligible to receive as much as a 1% trailing commission throughout the term of the CD.

34. SGC promoted thls genemus commission stivic
 to the firm. Thg commrss@nstmetureaisopronded apowerﬁﬂ

 cotblisthod Shamalnl mishies
| incentive for SGC financial admm to aggmwvely sell CDs to Usited States mvesters and
aggresswely expanded its numbm' of ﬁnanclal advisers in. theUmted States.
35. SIB pmportedly manages thc inyestment portfeho fmm Memphis and Tupelo
8IB’s investment portfolio, at least internally, i is segtﬂg_ated into 3 tiets: (a) cash and cash

equivalents (“Tier 17), (b) investments with “outside pottfolio managers (25+)” thatare
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monitored by the Analysts (“Tier 2”), and (c) unknown assets under the apparent control of
Stanford and Davis (“Tier 3”) Asof Deomnber 2008, Tier 1 represented approximately 9%
(8800 million) of the Bank’s portfolio. Tier 2, prior to the Bank’s decision to liquidate $250
million of investments in late 2008, represented 10% of the portfolio. And Tier 3 represented
81% of the. Bank’s investment portfolio. This division into tiers is not generally disclosed to
actual or potential investors.

B. SIB’s Fraudulent S_ale of CDs

1. SIB Misrepresented that Its Investment Portfolio is Invested Primarily in
“Liquid” Financial Instruments.

3.6. In selhng the CD, SIB touted the hqu:dlty of its investinent portfoho For
example, in its CcD brochure, SIB emphasizes the 1mportance of the liquidity, stating, under the
heading “Depositor Security,” that the bank focuses on “maintaining the highest degrée of
hqmdlty as a protective factor for _our.depositofs” and that the bank’s assets are “invested ina

well-diversified portfolio of highly marketable securities issued by stable governments, strong
multinational companies and ﬁiajo:: intea*n&ti@ banks.” Likewise, the bank trained SGC
advisers that “liqt_lidi'tyfmarketalz-aﬂity of SIB’s invested assets” was the “most important factor to
provide security to SIB clients.” Davis and Pendergest-Holt were aware, or were reckless in not

kncmmg, of these neprwentanens

37. In its 200‘7 annnai tepﬂrt, which was signed and approved by Stanford and Davis,

fixed incomne, 7.2% premous metals and 15. 6% altemative investments. These allocatmns were
depicted in a pie chart, which was aypmved by Davis. The bank’s annual reports for 2005 and
Zeﬁﬁmake smnlar representations about the allocation of the bank’s portfolio. Davis and

- Stanford knew or were reckless in not knowing of these representations.
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38.  SIB’s investment portfolio is not, however, invested in a.?‘ﬁcll-diversiﬂed
portfolio of highly marketable securities issued by stable governments, strong multinational
‘ . companies and major international banks.” Instead, Tier 3 (i.e., approximately 90%) consisted
primarily of illiquid investments — namely private equity and real estate. Indeed, it SIB’s -
portfolio included at least 23% private equity. The bank never disclosed in its financial
statements its exposure to private equity and real estate investments.. Stanford, Davis and
- Pendergest-Holt were aware, or were reckless in not knowing, that S?Ié:’-s investments were not
allocated as-advertised by SIB’s investment objectives or as detailed in SIB’s financial
-39.  Further, on December 15, 2008, Pendcxg_&t—Holt,ﬁet w1th her team of analysts
followmg SIB’s decamen to lignidate more than 30% of its Tier 2 investinents (approximately
$250 mﬂhon) During the meeﬁﬁ-g, at least one aﬁal-yst expressed concern about the amount of
l‘iquiiiations in Tier 2, asking why it was necessary to liquidate Tier 2, rather than Tier 3 assets,
~ to increase SIB:;S liquidity. Pendergest-Holt told the analyst that Tier 3 was primarily invested
in private equity and ré_al estate and Tier 2 was more liquid than Tier 3. Pendergest-Holt also
stated that Tier 3 “always had real estate investments in it.” Pendergest’s statements contradicts

SEC v. Stanford International Bank, Ltd., et-al. 12
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what she had previously stated to SIB’s senior investment adviser, knowing, or reckless in not
knowing, that the senior investment advisor would provide this misrepresentation to investors.

2. .SIB Misrepresented that Its Multi-Billion Dollar Investment Portfolio is
Monitored By a Team of Analysts ’

40. Prior to making their investment decision, prospective investors routinely asked

how SIB safeguarded and monitored its assets. In fact, investors i"réq_uenﬂy mqmred whether

Allen Stanford could “run off with the [investor’s] money.” In response to this question, at least

during 2006 and much of 2007, the bank’s senior investment officer — as instructed by
Pendergest-Holt - told investors that 'SIB had sufficient controls and safeguards in place to

41,  Inparticular, the SIO was trained by Ms. Pmdwgesﬁl-lolt: to tell investors that the
bank’s multi-billion portfolio was “monitored” by thé analyst team in Memphis. In
communicating with investors, the SIO followed Pendergest’s instructions, mistepresenting that

a teamn of 20-plus analysts monitored the bank’s investment portfolio. In so doing, the SIO never

disclosed to investors that the analyst only monitor approximately 10% of SIB’s money. In fact,

Pendergest-Holt trained the STO “not to divulge too much” about oversight of the Bank’s

portfolio because that information “wouldn’t leave an investor with a lot of confidence.”

tion about

S1B’s portfolio, As a result, both Davis and Pendi:tges_tel‘-ﬂlalt knew, or were reckless in not

Kknowing, of these fraudulent misstatements.

42.  Contrary to the representation that responsibility for SIB’s multi-billien pertfolio
‘was “spread out” anong 20-plus people, only Stanford and Davis know the whereabouts of the
Vastmajonty of the bank’s .mulﬁebi-iliﬂn._investmmt portfolio. Pendergest-Holt and her team of

analysts claim that they have ﬂever-beeii privy to Tier 1 or Tier 3 investments. In fact, the SIO
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was repeatedly denied access to the Bank’s records felating to Tier 3, even though he was
responsible, as the Bank’s Senior Investment Officer, for “closing” deals with large investors,
verseeing the Bank’s inve'stlt;ent portfolio” and “ensuring that the investmeént side is compliant
with the various banking regulatory authorities.” In fact, in preparing the Bank’s period reports
.(quarterly newsletters, month reports, mid-year repoﬂs and annual reports, Pendergest and the
Analyst.send to Davis the performance results for Tier 2 investments. And Davis calculates the
investment returns for the aggregated portfolio of assets.
3. SIB Misrepresented that its Investment Portfolio is Overseen by a Regulatory
Authority in Antigua that Conducts a Yearly Audit of the Fund’s Fmancial
Statements.

43.  SIB told investors that their deposits were T Antiguan regulator
responsible for ovérsigﬁt of the Bank’s investment portfolio, the Financial Services Regulatory
Commission (the “FSRC”), audited its financial statements. But, contrary to the Bank’s
representations to investors, the FSRC does not verify the assets SIB claims in its financial
statements. Instead, SIB’s accountant, C.A.S. H_ewlett_ & Co., a small local accounting firm in
Antigua isﬁ-responsil;le for _audifting‘-the multi-billion dollar SIB’s investment portfolio. The

Commission attempted several times to contact Hewlett by telephone. No one ever answered the

_phone.

X

4. SIB Misrepresented that Jes Investment Portfolio is Witho
Indirect” E:\,posure to-Fraud Perpetrated by Bemard Mada_ﬁf

44,  InaDecember 2008 Monthly Report, the bank told investors that their money was

safe because SIB “had no ditect orindirect exposure to any of [Berniard] Madoff's investiments.”

But, contrary to this statement, at least $400,000 in Tier 2 was invested in Meridian, a New
York-based hedge fund that used Tremont Pattners as its asset manager. Tremont invested

approximately 6-8% of the SIB assets they indirectly managed with Madoff’s investment firm,

SEC'v. Stanford International Bank, Ltd., etal. | X ' .
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45.  Pendergest, Davis and Stanford knew about this exposure to loss relating to the
Meridian investment. On December 15, 2008, an Analyst informed Pendergast, Davis and
Stanford in ﬁweekly report that his “rough estimate is a loss of$'40(_lk . . . based on the indirect
exposure” to Madoff. “

5. Market Concerns About SIB’s Lack of Transparency

46. Onor about December 12, 2008, Pershing, cmng susplcmns about the bank’s
investment returns and its mab1l1ty to get from the Bank “a raasonable level of transparency” into
its investment pmtfolio informed SGC that it would no longer proms wire transfers from SGC _
to SIB for thé. purchase of the CD. Smce thespnng of 2008, Pershing tried unsuccessfully to get
an independent report regarding SIB’s financials condition. On November 28, 2008, SGC’s
 President, Danny Bogar, informed Pershing that “6bminiﬁg the independent report was riota -
pnonty Between 2006 and Deceniber 12, 2008, Pershing sent to SIB 1,635 wire transfers,
totaling approximately $517 million, from approximately 1,199 customer accounts. -

D.

47.  From 2004 through ‘2', SCM induced clients, including non-accredited, retail
. i‘nthors, to invest in excess of $1 billion in its SAS program by touting its track record o
“fistorical performance” SCM highlighted the purporte Atk i il
tation books (“piteh books”). e _ |

48.  Forexample, the following char .
 the false impression that SAS accounts, from zOthrough 2005, outperformed the S&:P 500 by :

an average 6f-apprbxirnately 13 percentage points: -

SEC'v. Stanford International Bank, Lid., etal. | 15
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[SAS Growin 1200% | 18.15% | 32.84% | -333% | 432% | 18.08%
|sge s00 491% | 1088% | 28.68% | -2210% |-11.88% | -0.11%
SCM used these impressive, but fictitious, performance results to grow the SAS program from

less than $10 million in assets in 2004 to over $1 billion in 2008. |

49.  SGC also used the SAS track record to recruit financial advisers away from
legitimate advisory firms who had significant books of business. After arriving at Stanford, the
newly-hired financial advisors were encouraged and highly mcentlv:zedto put their clients’
assets in the SIB CD. '

50. ‘The SAS pea‘ﬁotmaneeresults used in the pitch books from 2005 through 2009
were ﬁéﬁonﬁl and/orinflated. Specifically, SCM misrepresented that SAS performance mu]ts,
for 1999 through 2004, reflected ‘h:stoncal performance” when, in fact, those results were
with the benefit of hindsight, picked mutual funds that perfoméd extremely-well during years

ﬁctmnal or “back-tested”’, numbers that do not reflect results of actua

funds to

1999 ﬂmmghzm, and presented the back-tested performmmfthose top-performing
potmhal ehmis asﬂtheyweﬁe actualfdlmns eamedbythe SASprogrm.
5L Slmﬂarly, SM used “actual” model SAS performance results for years 2005

through 2006thatwere inflated byasmuch as 4%.

52.  SCM told investors that SAS has positive returns forpm@ds in whmh actual SAS

lisits lost aufistantial 4 ammmts ‘For example, in 2000, actusl SAS client refurns ranged from

~ negative 7.5% to positive 1.1%. In 2001, actual SAS client returns ranged from negative 10.7%

SEC. .S'tanfom‘ﬁue:mom!.ﬁmk,ﬁtd. etal. IR 16

' ‘COMPLAINT



to negative 2.1%.” And, in 2002, thual SAS client returns ranged from negative 26.6% to
negative 8.7%. These return figures are ﬂl gross of SCM advisory fees ranging from 1.5% to
2.75%. Thus, Swnford’s claims of substantial market out performance were blatantly false.
(¢.8., a claimed return of 18.04% in 2000, when actual SAS investors lost as much as 7.5%).

53. SGC/SCM’s managemerit knew that the advertised SAS performance results were
misleading and inflated. From the beginning, SCM management knew that the pre-2005 track
record was purely hypothetical, bearing no relationship to actual trading. And, as early as
November 2006, SCM investment advisers began to question why their actual clients were not
recelvmg the returns advertised in pitch books.

54.  Inresponse to these questions, SGC/SCM hired an outside performance reporting
expert, to teview certain of its SAS performance results. In late 2006 and early 2007, the expert
informed SCM that its pe:formance rasults for--the-'twélve'months ended September 30, 2006
were inflated by as much as 3.4 percentage points. Moreover, the expert informed SCM
tanagers that the inflated petformance results included unexplained “bad math” that consistently
‘inflated the SAS pe[formance results over actual client performance. Finally, in Mafdh 2008, the
expert informed SCM managers that the SAS performance results for 2005 ware also inflated by

as much s 3.25 percen

pe pomt&

| 55 " Despite their knowledge of the mﬂnited SAS returns, SGC/SCM management

. continved vsing the pre-2005 track record and never asked Riordan to audit the pre-2005
pﬂl‘fmmance. In fact, in 20308 pitch books, SCM presented the back-tested pre-2005 performance
data under the heading “Historical Performance” and “Manager Performance” along side the

* anditod 2005 through 2008 figures. Accordingto SCM's ontside consultant, it was “[grossly

misleading]” to present audited performance figures-along side back-tested figures.
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56.  Finally, SGC/SCM compounded the deceptive nature of the SAS track record by -

blending the back-tested performance with audited composite performance to create annualized 5

and 7 year performance figures that bore no relation to actual SAS client performance. A samplé _

of this misleading disclosure used in 2008 and 2009 follows:

Calandar Year Relnm

A of Mach 2006
YT | 2007 | 2000 | 2005 | 2004 | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 | 2000 | 1090
m(;m Toes | e | e | 3 | wim [wees | | oo | mom [2ex
1D Ty Ay Byars Ty g
| SASGiowth | 74 | narx | osex | smax | mox | r2a
S2P500 D4s% | BpAT | SESL | 1ok | avx | 248%

57.  Other than the fees paid by SIB to SGC for the sale of the CD, SAS was the

second most significant source of revenue for the firm. In 2007 and 2008, approximately $25

million in fees from the marketing of the SAS program.

CAUSES OF ACTION

58, Plaintiff Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 57 of this

; Cﬂmplamt and incorporated herein by reference as if set forth verbatim.

59. Defendants, dlrecﬂy or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in connection

with the purchase and sale of securities, by use of the means and msmnnmtahtles of interstate

SEC v. Stanford International Bané; Ltd. etal.
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. commerce and by use of the mails have: (a) employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; -
(b) made untrue statements of materiél facts and omitted to state material facts necessary in order
to make the statements made?_ in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; and (c) mgage&inacts,pmdioesandcomses of business wﬁichoperate as a frand
and deceit upon purchasers, prospective purchasers and other persons. |

60.  Asa partof and in furtherance of their scheme, defendaﬁts, directly and
indirectly, prepared, disseminated or used contracts, written offering documents, promotional
métcrials, investor and other correspondence, and oral prescntahons, which contoiiied nitré
statements of material facts and misrepresentations of material facts, and which omitted to state
" material .facts- necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under-which they wefc made, not misleading,

61.  Defendants made the referenced misrepresentations and omissions knowingly or
grossly recklessly disregarding the truth. |

62.  For these reasons, Defendants have violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to
v-i_.ol'ate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5

[17 CF.R. § 240.10b-5].

eats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 57 of this

ited herein by reference as if set forth verbatim,
64.  If Stanford, Davis, and Pendergest-Holt did not violate Exchange Act Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5, in the alternative, Stanford, Davis, and Pendergest-Holt, in the manner set

forth above, knowingly or with severe recklessness provided substantial assistance in connection

SECv. Stanford International Bank, Ltd., et al. | ' )




with the violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17
C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] alleged herein.

65.  For these reasons, Stanford, Davis, and Pendergest-Holt aided and abetted and,
unless enjoined, will conﬁnué to aid and abet violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act

[15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

THIRD CLLAIM
AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS

Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
66, Plaintiff Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 57 of this

Complamt aﬁd incorporated herein by reference as if set forth verbatim. -

67.  Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in the offerand -

. sale of secuﬁties,- by use of the means and instruments of transportation and communication in
interstate commerce and by ‘u'se of thé mails, have: (a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to
 defrand; (b) obtained money or-propeﬂy by means of untrue statements of material fact or
omissions to state matenal facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and () engaged in transactions,
practices or courses of business which operate or would opémte as a fraud or deceit.

68.  Aspartofand in furtherance of this scheme; defent its, directly and indi;

ctly,

prepamd, disseminated orused traets, written offering documents, promotional materials,
inivestor and other correspondence, and oral presentations, which contained untrue statements of

material fact and which omitted to state material facts necess

ees under which they were made, not misleading.
69.  Defendants made the referenced mimprmntaﬁﬂnézand omissions knowingly or

grossly recklessly disregarding the truth.
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70.  For these reasons, Defendants have violated, and unless enjoined, will continue to -

violate Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].

71. ‘ Plaintiff Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 57 <;f this
Complaint and incorporated herein by reference as if set forth verbatim.

72.  Stanford, SGC, and Stanford Capital, directly or-iﬁdirectly, singly.or in concert,
knowingly or recklessly, through the use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of
mterstate -eomx.ﬁerce, while acting as investmént advisers within the meaning of Section 202(11)
of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-2(11)]: (a) have employed, are employing, or are about to
employ devices, schemes, and artifices to deﬁ-aud any client ot prospective client; or (b) have .

- engaged, are engaging, or are about to engage in acts, practices, or courses of business which
. operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or prospective -@lient-. _
73.  For these reasons, Stanferd, SGC, and Stanford Capital have violated, and unless

 enjoined, will continue to violate Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§

- 80b-6(1) and 80b-6(2)]

T4 PlamtﬁfConnmssmnmpmtsand es paragraphs 1 t
‘otplaint and incorporated herein by reference as if set forth verbatim.
75. ' Based on the conduct alleged herein, Stanford, Davis, and Pendergest-Holt, in the

manner set forth above, knowingly or with severe recklessness provided substan itial assistance in
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connection with the violations of Advisers Act Sections 206(1) and 206(2) [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-

6(1) and 80b-6(2)] alleged herein. |
76.. For these reasons,.Stanford,_.Dav-is, and Pendergest-Holt aided and abetted and,

unless enjoined, will contim'll_e to aid and abet violations of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the

Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) and 80b-6(2)].

AS TO STB AND SGC

77. . Plaintiff Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 57 of this
Complaint and incorporated herein by reference as if s_é_t forth verbatim.

78.  SIB, an'investment company not org:mzedor otherwise.ctea;fed urider the laws of
the United States or of a State, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, made use of
the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, directly or indirectly, to offer
for sale, sell, or deliver after salg in éonnaéﬁpn-with a public offering, securities of which SIB
was the issuer, without obtammg an order from the Commission permitting it to register as an
investment company orgamzed or otherwise created under the laws of a foreign country and to

miake a public offermg ing of its securities by use of the mails and ttieans or instrumentalities of |

79.  SGC, directly orindirectly, singly or in concert with others, acted as.an

éftha-ﬂni’t_e& States or of a State that made use of the mails or any meansormstrummtahty of

" interstate commerce, directly or indirectly, to offer for sale, sell, or deliver after sale, in

connection with a public offering, securities of which SIB was the issuer, without obtaininga

otder from the Commission permitting it o register as ':an-.i_nwshnent' company organized or

”
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otherwise created under the laws of a foreign country and to make a public offering of its
securities by use of the mails and ﬁms-or instrumentalities of interstate commerce.
80.  For these reasons, SIB and SGC have violated, and unless enjoined, will continue
to violate Section 7@) of the Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. § 80a-7(d)).
RELIEF REQUESTED
Plaintiff Commission erIly requests that this dﬂmt:
L

rarily, preliminarily, and permanently enjoin: (a) Defendants from violating, or

aiding ami abeltmg violations of, Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exehange Act; (b)
Defendants from. wolatmg Section 17(a) of the Securities Act; (c) Stanford, Daws, Pmderg&st
206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act; and (d) SIB and SCG from leatmg Section 7(d) of the
mveStment Company Act.
o IL
Enter an Order immediately freezing the assets of Defendants and directing that all
Sitory institutions-comply with the Court’s Ordm‘ Furthenmore, order that

msti’tmmn not

a atea:gtfmds held at any bark or other financial

il ject to tﬁc*,}ws,dwﬁon of the Court, and that they direot tho d '_tofsuch finds inddentificd
aomlmusmﬂae Umted States, pending oonclusmn ofﬁns matter. |
Qrderthatbefendants shall file with the Court and sm-veupon Pl‘aintiff ‘Commissi — jon and

' fheCourt, Mthm 10 days of the msuanceofthls order orthteedayspnorto aheanng on the




oath, detallmg all of their assets and all funds or other assets received from investors and from ,
one another. ' |

. i IV' H

Order that Defendants be restrained and enjoined from destroying, removing, mutilating,
altermg, mMng or disposing of, in any manner, any-c;f their books and records or documents
- relating to the matters set forth in the Complaint, or the books and records and such documents of

any entities under their control, until further order of the Court. ‘
V.

Order the appointment of a temporary receiver for Defendants, for the benefit of
investors, to marshal, conserve, protect, and hold funds and assets obtained by the defendants
and their agents, co-conspirators, and others involved in thi‘s,_scheine,_wherever such assets may

| be found, or, with the approval of the Court, dispose of any wasting asset in accordance with the
application and proposed order provided herewith.

Order that the parties may commence discovery immediately, and that notice periods be

 shortened to permit the parties to require production of documents, and the taking of depositions
' Dn‘?ﬂ hours” notice. | |

Defendants to disgorge an amount equal to the fi ds and benefits they obtained
illogally a5 & result of the violations alleged hetein, plus prjudgment interest on that amount.
| Order civil penalties against Defendants pumuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act
[15 US.C. § 77t(d)], Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)], Section 41(6) of
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the Invcsunent.Co-mpany Act [15U.8.C. § 80a-41(e)], and Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act

' [15U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)] for their securities law violations.

IX.

" Order that Stanford, Davis, and Pendergest-Holt immediately surrender their passports to

the Clerk of this Court, to hold until further order of this Court.

- X

Order such further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

For the Gomﬁﬁssion, by its attorneys:
February 16, 2009
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